#### ABSTRACT

## AROMATASE PROTEIN CONTENT IN GLUTEAL AND ABDOMINAL SUBCUTANEOUS ADIPOSE TISSUE IN PREMENOPAUSAL CAUCASIAN AND AFRICAN AMERICAN WOMEN

by Elizabeth Cooper

December, 2016

Director: Dr. Stacey Altman

#### DERPARTMENT OF KINESIOLOGY

OBJECTIVE: To determine if aromatase protein content differs in abdominal and gluteal adipose tissue and to determine if there are racial differences in aromatase protein content that might influence racial differences in regional body fat distribution in overweight to obese premenopausal women.

MATERIALS/METHODS: Biopsies of the subcutaneous abdominal and gluteal adipose tissue were performed in 15 premenopausal women (7 C/8 AA,  $25.1 \pm 1.8$  years, BMI 29.5  $\pm$ 0.5kg/m(2)). Adipose tissue protein content was measure by western blot analysis. Independent sample t-tests were used to determine racial differences in subject characteristics and sex hormones. Two-way repeated measure ANOVA (race x region) was used to determine racial differences (C versus AA) in estrogen receptor expression in the abdominal and gluteal SAT. RESULTS: Aromatase protein content was not different between races or regions: C abdominal 0.25±0.06, C gluteal 0.25±0.12, AA abdominal 0.35±0.08, AA gluteal 0.32±0.09 arbitrary units (2-way ANOVA; race x region p=0.73, race p=0.46, region p=0.71). CONCLUSIONS: This study showed no significant differences in aromatase protein content between regions or races in the observed group. No regional or racial differences in aromatase protein content were detected in this study.

# AROMATASE PROTEIN CONTENT IN GLUTEAL AND ABDOMINAL SUBCUTANEOUS ADIPOSE TISSUE IN PREMENOPAUSAL CAUCASIAN AND AFRICAN AMERICAN WOMEN

A Thesis Presented to the Faculty of the Department of Kinesiolgy East Carolina University

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Masters of Science in Kinesiology

by

Elizabeth Cooper December, 2016 © 2016, Elizabeth Cooper

## AROMATASE PROTEIN CONTENT IN GLUTEAL AND ABDOMINAL SUBCUTANEOUS ADIPOSE TISSUE IN PREMENOPAUSAL CAUCASIAN AND AFRICAN AMERICAN WOMEN

by		
Elizabeth Cooper		
APPROVED BY:		
DIRECTOR OF THESIS:		
	Robert Hickner, PhD	
COMMITTEE MEMBER:		
	Ronald Cortright, PhD	
COMMITTEE MEMBER:		
	Jaques Robidoux, PhD	
COMMITTEE MEMBER:		
	Charles Tanner, MA	
CHAIR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF KINESIOL	OGY:	
	Stacey Altman, PhD	
DEAN OF THE GRADUATE SCHOOL:		
	Paul J. Gemperline, PhD	

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	
Introduction	1
Statement of the Problem	4
Research Hypothesis	4
Delimitations	4
List of Acronyms	5
CHAPTER II REVIEW OF LITERATURE	
Regional Differences in Lipolysis	6
Racial Differences in Lipolysis	7
Estrogens and Lipolysis	9
Aromatase	10
Estrogen subtypes	11
Summary	11
METHODS	12
Body Composition	13
Adipose Tissue Biopsy	13
Western Blot	14
Blood Samples	15
Statistics	16
RESULTS	17
Aromatase Protein Content	20
DISCUSSION	21
BIBLIOGRAPHY	25
APPENDIX A	30

## List of Tables

1	Participant Characteristics	17
2	Sex Hormones	18

## List of Figures

1	Schematic of Tissue Steroid Metabolism	2
2	Resting Abdominal Region Lipolysis E2 Infusion	8
3	Resting Gluteal Region Lipolysis E2 Infusion	8
4	Pilot Blot 24	15
5	Aromatase Blot 1	19
6	Aromatase Protein Content	22

#### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

Obesity is one of the leading health issues in the world today, and incidence in the United States has risen dramatically over the past decades. <sup>1, 2</sup> Today, about one third of adult Americans are obese (33.8%), and no single state has a prevalence of obesity of less than 20%. Obesity carries with it the increased risk of many diseases, including coronary heart disease, Type 2 diabetes, many cancers, dyslipidemia and stroke.<sup>1</sup>

The distribution of subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT), fat deposits beneath the skin, may have an effect on the severity of disease associated with obesity. Lower body adipose distribution, or gynoid distribution, is associated with a lower risk of metabolic disease than upper body distribution, or android distribution. Gynoid distribution could even have a protective effect against disease, as opposed to simply being less harmful as compared to android distribution.<sup>4, 5</sup> Gynoid obesity is generally of highest prevalence in women, whereas android obesity is generally of highest prevalence in men. However, women's transition through menopause, during which women experience a decrease in estrogen, is characterized by a shift in fat mass from gynoid to android distribution.<sup>4,5</sup> In order to advance efforts to prevent obesity and obesity-related chronic disease, it is important to understand the physiological mechanisms behind adipose tissue accumulation and reduction in each region of the body.

There is great interest in the regulation of SAT since excess adiposity is associated with a higher risk of metabolic abnormalities, such as diabetes and atherosclerosis.<sup>6</sup> Research suggests that estrogen has a significant influence on the distribution of SAT.<sup>7–9</sup> Specifically, as circulating estrogen levels decrease, especially during menopause, there is an increase in android distribution and higher chronic disease risk.<sup>5,10,11</sup> Estrogen has been shown to directly influence

the metabolism and the location of adipose tissue by altering lipogenesis and lipolysis.<sup>12</sup> Lipogenesis is the synthesis of fatty acids and triglycerides and lipolysis is the reverse, or the breakdown of fatty acids and triglycerides. In lipolysis, adipose triglyceride lipase (ATGL) initiates the hydrolysis of triacylglycerol (TAG) into diacylglycerols (DG) and free fatty acids (FFA). Hormone sensitive lipase (HSL) hydrolyses triacylglycerols, diacylglycerols and monoacylglycerols. Monoglyceride lipase hydrolyses monacylglycerol to form glycerol and fatty acids. <sup>13</sup>

Estrogen influences the metabolism and regional distribution of SAT via lipogenesis and lipolysis.<sup>14–17,13</sup> Aromatase is one of the enzymes that has a great influence on the regulation of these estrogens (Figure 1).<sup>18,19,20,21</sup>



Schematic of Tissue Steroid Metabolism<sup>2</sup>

Figure 1. Aromatase is an enzyme that converts testosterone and androstenedione into estradiol and aromatase, respectively. HSD= hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase; ER = Estrogen receptor Aromatase is a key enzyme that regulates steroid levels locally in adipose tissue by converting androstenedione into estrone (E1) and testosterone into estradiol (E2).<sup>2</sup> Aromatase deficiency in humans results in a predominance of androgens over estrogens and abdominal obesity, or an android distribution.<sup>21</sup> It has also been shown that aromatase mRNA expression differs between depots, with higher expression in the gluteal than the abdominal regions in both pre- and postmenopausal women.<sup>22,23</sup> Therefore, it is logical to assume that the conversion of androgens into estrogens (aromatase content) could indicate local concentrations of E2. This could have an influence on SAT and distribution via local estrogen exposure.<sup>24</sup> For this reason, the primary focus of this study was to determine if aromatase protein content differs in abdominal and gluteal SAT.

African Americans (AA) have the highest rates of obesity (44.1%) compared to Caucasians (C) who have a prevalence of 32.6%.<sup>25</sup> AA tend to gain weight at an earlier age than their C counterparts, and maintain a higher weight at comparable ages.<sup>26</sup> AAs also tend to have different body fat distributions, specifically less visceral adipose tissue for similar age and BMI<sup>27–29</sup>, and even greater amounts of SAT when adjusted for total body fat.<sup>27,30,31</sup> It is important to understand the mechanisms behind these differences in order to develop and research individual treatment methods for obesity and obesity-related diseases. Therefore, a second focus of this study was to determine if there are racial differences in aromatase protein content that might influence racial differences in regional body fat distribution in overweight/obese premenopausal women.

#### Statement of the Problem

Is there a difference in aromatase protein content between gluteal and abdominal adipose tissue in premenopausal overweight and obese African American and Caucasian women? <u>Research Hypothesis</u>

Aromatase protein content will be higher in the gluteal region than the abdominal region in premenopausal overweight and obese women.

Aromatase protein content will be higher in abdominal and gluteal subcutaneous adipose tissue of African American than Caucasian premenopausal overweight and obese women.

#### Delimitations

Sixteen healthy premenopausal women, 18-45 years old, overweight or obese [BMI 28-33 kg/m<sup>2</sup>], not currently taking hormonal contraceptives or any other form of hormone replacement were studied. Women who had irregular menstrual cycles, a history of hormone sensitive cancer, diabetes or insulin resistance, cardiovascular disease including hypertension, thyroid dysfunction, abnormal liver or renal function, or woman taking any medications know to affect lipid metabolism were excluded from this study. All women were sedentary, exercised no more than 20 minutes twice a week, were weight stable (< 2.0 kg weight change in the past 6 months), were non-smokers and did not regularly consume alcohol.

## List of Acronyms

- AA: African American
- C: Caucasian
- SAT: Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue
- FFA: Free fatty acids
- TAG: Triacylglycerols
- ATGL: Adipose Triglyceride Lipase
- HSL: Hormone Sensitive Lipase
- E1: Estrone
- E2: Estradiol

#### CHAPTER II

#### **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

It is well known that obesity, characterized by excess white adipose tissue, is associated with elevated risk of a wide array of morbidities including, but not limited to, heart disease, diabetes and certain types of cancer. It is also known that the type of obesity, or the localization of the fat mass, influences the risk associated with developing said morbidities. Gynoid obesity, or obesity with fat mass centered in the hips and thighs, is generally associated with women, whereas android obesity, or obesity centered in the abdomen, is generally associated with men. However, women's transition through menopause, during which women experience a decrease in estrogen, is characterized by a shift in fat mass from gynoid to android distribution.<sup>4,5</sup> Estrogen treatment has been shown to prevent the shift from gynoid to android obesity in post-menopausal women.<sup>16,32</sup> These results suggest that sex steroids may play a significant role in obesity patterns.

#### Regional Differences in Lipolysis

Lipolysis is the process of converting TAG from adipocytes into FFA and glycerol<sup>13</sup> using the ATGL<sup>33</sup> and HSL enzymes to hydrolyze intracellular triglycerides.<sup>34</sup> Lipolysis, therefore, is an important process in the reduction of fat mass in any region. By measuring FFA or glycerol in vivo it is possible to estimate local lipolytic activity. Published data demonstrate that there are differences in the lipolytic activity of adipocytes by body region. By measuring FFA in vivo researchers were able to show that lower body adipose tissue lipolytic rates were lower than that of the upper body in non-obese and obese premenopausal women.<sup>35</sup> Interestingly, this study also showed that FFA levels were lower in the lower body of obese women despite

higher upper body obesity, which may suggest a mechanism for premenopausal women to maintain their gynoid distribution. In contrast, in a study by Hickner, Fisher and Kohrt (1997), glycerol concentrations, an indication of lipolytic rates, were reported to be higher in femoral adipose tissue of nonobese premenopausal women as compared to abdominal adipose tissue measured via microdialysis recoveries.<sup>36</sup> Because of conflicting evidence, it is of great importance to pursue further research into the different mechanisms that regulate regional lipolysis.

#### Racial Differences in Lipolysis

African American (AA) women become obese at an earlier age than Caucasian (C) women and maintain a higher weight at comparable ages across the lifespan.<sup>26</sup> Albu et al., (1999) showed that AA women have lower basal rates of lipolysis than C women, but did not investigate the mechanisms behind this difference.<sup>37</sup> Barakat et al., (2002), also found that basal lipolytic rates in AA women were lower than those in C women as indicated by fasting FFA and glycerol concentrations.<sup>38</sup> Researchers did find lower hormone sensitive lipase (HSL) mass in AA women despite equal HSL mRNA, suggesting the HSL may be more biologically active in AA than C women.

#### **Preliminary Data:**



#### **Resting Abdominal Region Lipolysis E2 Infusion**

Figure 2. Regional and racial differences between premenopausal overweight to obese C (n=5; age 31.2  $\pm$  10.03 years; BMI 29.62  $\pm$  2.22 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and AA (n=5; age 29.00  $\pm$  8.67 years; BMI 29.39  $\pm$  2.20 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) women show that when estradiol is infused into abdominal SAT in vivo at rest, there is a significant difference (p= 0.005\*) in percent change of lipolytic response: an increase in lipolysis for C and a decrease for AA.



**Resting Gluteal Region Lipolyis E2 Infusion** 

Figure 3. When estradiol is infused into gluteal SAT at rest, the difference between AA and C response is trending toward significance (p=0.058); a greater decrease in AA than in C.

Unpublished pilot data on regional and racial differences between premenopausal overweight to obese C (n=5; age  $31.2 \pm 10.03$  years; BMI  $29.62 \pm 2.22$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and AA (n=5; age  $29.00 \pm 8.67$  years; BMI  $29.39 \pm 2.20$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>) women show that when estradiol is infused into abdominal SAT in vivo at rest, there is a significant difference (p= 0.005) in percent change of lipolytic response: an increase in lipolysis for C and a decrease for AA (Figure 2). When

estradiol is infused into gluteal SAT at rest, the difference between AA and C response is trending toward significance (p=0.058); a greater decrease in AA than in C (Figure 3). The mechanism(s) behind this difference are not clear.

#### Estrogens and Lipolysis

White adipose tissue is an endocrine organ because of it's ability to store, metabolize and export sex hormones and other metabolic hormones affecting metabolism and energy balance (e.g. leptin which increases skeletal muscle fatty acid oxidation)<sup>39</sup>. Pre-menopausal women produce estrogens primarily from the ovaries and several extragonadal sites including mesenchymal cells of the adipose tissue, osteoblasts in bone, and vascular endothelial cells. Post-menopausal women primarily derive their estrogen from mesenchymal cells of adipose tissue is successful to the estrogen from the local tissue level, the tissue concentrations in these areas may be very high and can be of great significance locally.<sup>23</sup>

It has been well established that there is an association between the loss of circulating estrogen and a shift in body fat distribution in postmenopausal women and premenopausal women undergoing sex hormone suppression.<sup>4,40,41</sup> Evidence, such as estrogen therapy to treat low levels of circulating estrogen, suggests that sex steroids aid in regulating adipose distribution as indicated by reversing the shift from android back to gynoid distribution.<sup>42,43,44</sup> A study by Yükse (2007) showed that hormone replacement therapy (HRT) in postmenopausal women supplementing E2 resulted in a significant decrease in both waist circumference and SAT<sup>42</sup> indicating the positive influence of circulating estrogens on the favorable gynoid distribution. Davis et al. (2000) showed that HRT with E2 in postmenopausal women resulted in reduced hip

and abdominal circumferences as well as fat mass to fat-free mass ratio over the abdomen.<sup>44</sup> These studies support earlier evidence that varying levels of E2 in adipose tissue have been shown to play a role in patterns of body fat distribution.

#### Aromatase

Aromatase is an enzyme that catalyzes the rate-limiting irreversible aromatization of androgens to estrogens.<sup>45</sup> After menopause, when women are more inclined to an android distribution, there is an increase in SAT aromatase mRNA expression despite lower circulating estrogen levels, indicating that postmenopausal women might have increased estrogen in these tissues than premenopausal women.<sup>46</sup> In premenopausal and postmenopausal women, regional mRNA levels were found to be different between adipose tissue depots. Aromatase mRNA expression was higher in the thigh, buttock and flank regions as compared to the abdominal region in both pre- and postmenopausal women and was also found to increase with age.<sup>22,23</sup> Similarly, Misso et al. 2005 observed that aromatase mRNA expression was higher in the gluteal region than in the abdominal region and that aromatase mRNA expression was significantly higher in postmenopasal women.<sup>47</sup> This increase in aromatase mRNA expression as women age appears to be a mechanism to increase estrogen production in extragonadal sites as circulating levels of estrogens decrease. Therefore, adipose depot differences in aromatase mRNA expression and aromatase protein content, which are responsible for the conversion of testosterone to E2, may be influential in regulating adipose distribution and assist in providing potential mechanisms to account for the shift toward a more android distribution observed in the studies noted above.

#### Estrogen subtypes

Estradiol (E2) is the most biologically active estrogen in mammals<sup>48</sup> and is produced from the aromatization of testosterone. E2 has been shown to decrease adiposity, alter the release and production of fat hormones, and regulate the growth and localization of adipocytes. However, the mechanisms behind this process are still poorly understood.<sup>9</sup> Estrone (E1) is produced from the aromatization of circulating androstenedione<sup>49</sup> and appears to be the primary estrogen formed in postmenopausal women.<sup>50</sup>

#### **Summary**

The purpose of this study is to investigate differences in aromatase protein content between abdominal and gluteal SAT and between AA and C premenopausal overweight and obese women. Obesity is a growing health concern in the United States. With the knowledge that estrogens play a role in the distribution of SAT and regulation of lipolysis, and have different effects according to region and race, it is significant to find the mechanisms behind this process so that effective interventions, such as estrogen therapies after menopause, can be developed. Differences in regional and racial lipolytic responses provide rationale to find the mechanisms behind this process in order that researchers and medical professionals can develop more effective and appropriate individual strategies based on each person's unique biology. Because estrogens are known to be regulated through specific enzymes, namely aromatase, and because little is known about their protein expression between region and particularly between races, it is important to develop a more complete understanding in this area.

#### **METHODS**

Participants in this study included healthy premenopausal overweight to obese Caucasian (C) and African American (AA) women (N=15; C=7; AA=8; BMI=29.5  $\pm$  0.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) who were sedentary (exercising no more than 20 min/day twice a week) and weight stable (< 2.0 kg weight change in past 6 months). Participants were excluded from this study if they are taking hormonal contraceptives, had a history of hormone sensitive cancer, diabetes or insulin resistance, cardiovascular disease including hypertension, thyroid dysfunction, abnormal liver or renal function, took any medications known to affect lipid metabolism, smoke or regularly consume alcohol.

All participants underwent preliminary testing to ensure all enrollment criteria were met. Screening tests included: medical history, pregnancy test, DXA for body composition analysis, waist and hip circumferences and completion of menstrual cycle tracking calendar.

Following acceptance into the study all women were scheduled for two adipose tissue biopsies that took place during the early follicular phase of the menstrual cycle, during which circulating estrogen and progesterone levels are at their lowest<sup>51</sup>. A fasting blood sample was collected from an antecubital vein of each participant and analyzed for serum concentrations of glycerol, free fatty acids and circulating sex hormones (estradiol, estrone, progesterone, testosterone) to confirm menstrual cycle phase. This study was approved by the Medical Center Institutional Review Board at East Carolina University. (UMCIRB #11-077) (Appendix A)

#### **Body Composition**

Participants were weighed on an electronic scale with weight recorded to the nearest 0.1 kg. Height was measured with a standard stadiometer to the nearest centimeter (cm). Waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) was calculated from measures of minimal waist and hip circumferences performed according to previously published guidelines.<sup>52</sup> Total percent body fat, fat-free mass (lean mass + bone mineral content), and total and regional (android and gynoid) fat mass were determined using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA; GE Lunar Prodigy Advance, Madison, WI).

#### Adipose Tissue Biopsy

Participants arrived at the East Carolina Diabetes and Obesity Institute at the East Carolina Heart Institute between 0700-0800 h after an overnight fast ( $\geq$ 10 hr) during the follicular phase of the menstrual cycle (day 2-8 after the start of menses). On average the biopsy visit occurred on day 5 ± 2 of the cycle. Approximately 1 gram of subcutaneous adipose tissue was removed under sterile conditions using the needle aspiration technique (14 gauge needle and 30cc syringe) after administration of local anesthesia (5cc of 1% lidocaine) and 5cc normal saline. Biopsies were taken from the abdominal (AB) subcutaneous adipose tissue, approximately 5cm lateral to the umbilicus, and the upper gluteal (GL) subcutaneous adipose tissue, approximately 5-10 cm from the medial line in the upper quadrant of the buttock. Fat tissue was immediately rinsed with Krebs Ringer Bicarbonate buffer containing 1% bovine serum albumin. Clots and blood vessels were then removed; tissue was immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C for later analysis.

#### Western Blot

Adipose tissue samples were homogenized glass on glass in a 2:1 (volume-to-weight) ratio of cold homogenization buffer (50 mmol/L HEPES [pH 7.4], 1% sodium dodecyl sulfate, 2% Triton X-100, 2 mmol/L Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, 1 mmol/L sodium orthovanadate, 50 mmol/L sodium fluoride, 1 mmol/L benzamidine, 2 mmol/L dithiothreitol and protease inhibitor cocktail [Sigma P8340]). Homogenized samples were rotated for 60 min and centrifuged for 30 min at 10,000 x g, both at 4 °C. The supernatant was then removed and protein concentration determined by the Pierce BCA protein assay (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). Samples were prepared in laemmli sample buffer (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) with 5% βmercaptoethanol and heated in a water bath at 90 °C for 5 min.

Seventy micrograms of protein was loaded and separated on a 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel (Criterion precast gels; Bio-Rad) and electrotransferred to reduced-fluorescence polyvinylidene difluoride membranes (Immobilon-FL; Millipore, Bedford, MA). Membranes were blocked for 1 hour at room temperature with Odyssey blocking buffer (LI-COR Biosciences, Lincoln, NE) and then probed overnight at 4 °C for aromatase (1:200; sc-14245; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), and  $\beta$ -actin (1:1000; 926-42212; LI-COR). Primary antibodies were diluted in Odyssey blocking buffer containing 0.2% tween-20. Blots were then washed with phosphate buffered saline containing 1% tween-20 (PBS-T) and incubated for 1 h at room temperature in fluorescent secondary detection antibodies (IRDye 800 CW-Donkey anti-Goat and IRDye 680LT Donkey anti-Mouse; LI-COR) diluted in Odyssey Blocking Buffer containing 0.2% tween-20 and 1% SDS. Fluorescence intensity data were quantified using the Odyssey infrared imaging system (LI-COR). All samples were normalized to  $\beta$ -actin protein as well an internal control sample run on each gel and presented in arbitrary units. Myometrium served as negative control.<sup>53,54</sup> (Figure 4)



Figure 4. Demonstrates the use of the positive and negative controls to verify the results from study samples. The positive control for aromatase content used was rat ovary extract. The negative control was myometrium. Samples were paired by participant (AA or C) and region (A or G). This blot shows the positive control at the correct weight of 58 kilodaltons and the absence of the negative control at 58 kilodaltons.

#### **Blood Samples**

A fasting blood sample was drawn in the morning one day immediately preceding or after

the biopsy visit. Serum estradiol, progesterone and testosterone were determined by

Electrochemiluminescence Immunoassay (UniCel® DxC 600i Synchron® Access® Clinical

System, Beckman Coulter, Inc., Brea, CA). The University of Colorado Denver Clinical and

Translational Research Center (CTRC) Core laboratory conducted the following analyses: Estrone by conventional radioimmunoassay (Diagnostic Systems Laboratories, Webster, TX; 200 intra- and inter-assay CV's respectively 8.7% and 11.7%), dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEA-S) and sex hormone-binding 201 globulin (SHBG) by Electrochemiluminescence Immunoassay (Beckman coulter, DHEA-S 2.3% and 3.4%, SHBG 3.6% and 5.7%).

#### **Statistics**

Independent sample t-tests were used to determine racial differences in subject characteristics and sex hormones. Triglyceride, estradiol, estrone, progesterone, and SHBG data were log transformed before analysis due to its skewed distribution. Paired t-tests were used to determine regional differences in aromatase protein content. Two-way repeated measure ANOVA (race x region) was used to determine racial differences (Caucasian versus African American) in estrogen receptor expression in the abdominal and gluteal SAT. Significance was set at a value of p < 0.05. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

#### RESULTS

Baseline characteristics of participants in the study are included in Table 1 and circulating sex hormone levels within one day of the biopsy in Table 2. African American women had elevated android fat mass compared to Caucasian women; all other participant characteristics were similar between the racial subgroups. There were no group differences in circulating sex hormones.

Table 1. Participant characteristcs				
Variable	Pooled	Caucasian	African American	
Ν	15	7	8	
Age, (y)	25.1 <u>+</u> 1.8	25.0 <u>+</u> 2.7	25.1 <u>+</u> 2.6	
Weight, (kg)	81.3 <u>+</u> 2.5	78.6 <u>+</u> 1.5	83.8 <u>+</u> 4.5	
BMI, (kg/m²)	29.5 <u>+</u> 0.6	28.4 <u>+</u> 0.3	30.5 <u>+</u> 0.9	
Waist Circumference, (cm)	88.4 <u>+</u> 1.3	87.6 <u>+</u> 1.5	89.2 <u>+</u> 2.0	
Waist-to-Hip Ratio	0.79 <u>+</u> 0.01	0.79 <u>+</u> 0.02	0.79 <u>+</u> 0.02	
Body fat, (%)	44.3 <u>+</u> 1.2	43.7 <u>+</u> 0.8	44.8 <u>+</u> 2.2	
Android Fat Mass, (kg)	3.1 <u>+</u> 0.2	2.7 <u>+</u> 0.2	3.4 <u>+</u> 0.2*	
Gynoid Fat Mass, (kg)	7.0 <u>+</u> 0.2	6.9 <u>+</u> 0.3	7.1 <u>+</u> 0.3	

Data are means <u>+</u> SE unless otherwise indicated. \*p<0.05 vs Caucasian

Table 2. Sex hormones			
Variable	Pooled	Caucasian	African American
N	15	7	8
Past HC use, (yes/no)	7/8	5/2	2/6
Time since HC use, (y)	5.6 <u>+</u> 2.5	6.4 <u>+</u> 3.5	3.5 <u>+</u> 0.5
Estradiol, (pg/mL) <sup>a,b</sup>	67 (38-115)	50 (27-95)	92 (37-231)
Estrone (ng/mL) <sup>a,b</sup>	0.064 (0.047-0.087)	0.055 (0.038-0.082)	0.072 (0.042-0.013)
Progesterone, (ng/mL) <sup>a,b</sup>	0.35 (0.21-0.60)	0.32 (0.15-0.67)	0.39 (0.16-0.94)
Testosterone, (ng,mL) <sup>b</sup>	0.29 <u>+</u> 0.04	0.33 <u>+</u> 0.052	0.29 + 0.066
SHBG, (ug/mL) <sup>a,b</sup>	4.6 (3.63-5.82)	4.41 (2.65-7.28)	4.77 (3.5-6.5)
DEA-S (ug/mL) <sup>b</sup>	1.67 <u>+</u> 0.22	2.07 <u>+</u> 0.22	1.33 <u>+</u> 0.27

Values are mean <u>+</u> unless otherwise indicated <sup>a</sup>Skewed variable, re-exponentiated to mean 95% confidence interval

<sup>b</sup>N=14 (African American N=7), one African American did not have a blood draw

HC, hormonal contraceptives; SHBG, Sex Hormone-Binding Globulin; DHEA-S, dehydroepiandosterone sulfate



Figure 5. Presents evidence of correct band detection for aromatase at the expected level of 58 kDa. Samples were paired by participant according to race (AA or C) and region (A or G). Controls used in this figure are an average of aromatase content across all participants.

#### Aromatase Protein Content

Aromatase protein content was not different between races or regions: C abdominal

0.25±0.06, C gluteal 0.25±0.12, AA abdominal 0.35±0.08, AA gluteal 0.32±0.09 arbitrary units

(2-way ANOVA; race x region p=0.73, race p=0.46, region p=0.71). The aromatase protein data

are depicted in Figure 6.





#### DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to examine the potential for differences in aromatase protein content between gluteal and abdominal adipose tissue in premenopausal overweight and obese African American and Caucasian women. It was hypothesized that aromatase protein content would be higher in the gluteal region than the abdominal region in premenopausal overweight and obese women and that aromatase protein content would be higher in abdominal and gluteal subcutaneous adipose tissue of African American than Caucasian premenopausal overweight and obese women. This study showed no significant differences in aromatase protein content between regions or races in the observed group.

Estrogens, produced by enzymes in adipose tissue such as aromatase, have been shown to directly influence lipolysis. Estrogen influences the regulation of subcutaneous adipose tissue and could thereby help determine body fat distribution. Unpublished pilot data from our lab show significant regional and racial differences in in-vivo lipolysis between overweight-to-obese (BMI 29.4  $\pm$  2.2) premenopausal women in response to local estradiol perfusion (Figure 1, 2). Even though previous studies in premenopausal women show regional differences in aromatase mRNA levels<sup>22,23</sup>, no regional or racial differences in aromatase protein content were detected in this study.

Aromatase protein deficiency has been shown to cause a dominance in androgens over estrogens and an android body fat distribution<sup>21</sup>; however, several studies examining aromatase enzyme expression, as measured by mRNA, have observed increased aromatase expression as women age along with a shift towards android body fat distribution. The same studies also show that aromatase enzyme expression was higher in the gluteal regions than abdominal regions in both pre- and postmenopausal women despite the shift in body fat distribution. However, Kendrick, 2014 showed that agreement between measurements of mRNA and protein content occur only about 40% of the time.<sup>55</sup> Consequently, it is not an exercise in redundancy to measure both mRNA and protein comparatively or independently. It is important to measure mRNA and protein content in order to fully understand the function of the cell. <sup>56</sup> While it could be assumed that mRNA would directly translate into protein and therefore the two would be correlated, that is often not the case. One explanation for this difference could involve the many steps between transcription and translation and how much mRNA actually results in protein due to difference in transcription rates, efficiency and degredation.<sup>57</sup> We measured only protein in the present study, as we believe protein content is the relevant measure for our study. A measure of aromatase activity would have been preferred to investigate the best functional outcome of both transcription and translation, but we were unable to develop an aromatase activity for the current study. However, to our knowledge, this is the first study to report aromatase protein content at the fat depot regional level and between AA and C women.

For this study, participants were asked to complete a menstrual cycle tracking calendar, and adipose tissue biopsies were performed during the early follicular phase of the menstrual cycle. This phase was selected because progesterone and estrogen levels are known to be at their lowest and most stable. Since progesterone has been shown to increases aromatase expression and estrogen levels<sup>53,58</sup> studying the participants during the time of the menstrual cycle with lowest estrogen and progesterone likely provided low variance in the hormonal milieu across participants. This process could have been further improved by verifying consistency in the menstrual cycle across several months, with no missed or late periods and little variation in time between menstrual periods. However, there were no variations in circulating sex hormones in this group (Table 2), which is ideal for this study in order that these hormones not influence

aromatase activity or content.

One limitation of this study was the small sample size. Recruitment could have been limited due to the discomfort of the procedures which included the adipose tissue biopsy that could lead to bruising. Previous studies have also further limited African American participants with the requirement that both their parents and grandparents be of African American descent. No distinction was made in this case and variation in racial descent could have confounded results.

In this study, African American women had significantly higher android mass (kg)  $(3.4 \pm 0.2)$  than Caucasian women  $(2.7 \pm 0.2)$  (p<0.05) yet no differences in aromatase protein content were observed. While aromatase protein concentration was not different, total protein content could be higher due to higher overall fat mass. It appears, in the group studied, that aromatase protein content is not a major contributor of body fat distribution. It is possible that aromatase activity, as well as other estrogen producing enzymes such as 17BHSD, may be different between depots or races, thereby influencing subcutaneous adipose tissue estrogen exposure.

Men were not considered in this study for several reasons. First, most previous studies did not use men in their methodology. Men tend to have more of an android distribution as opposed to a gynoid distribution and do not experience a change in said distribution as they age. We were also limited to the size of sample in this study. It would be of interest to explore the differences in aromatase content between regions and across age in future studies.

A final limitation of this study may be that there were not lean participants to compare our overweight/obese participants to. This would have been a beneficial comparison to determine if the concentration of aromatase and rate of lipolysis is different between lean and obese participants. A possible difficulty would have been finding lean participants who maintain a

similar body fat distribution to the overweight and obese participants.

In conclusion, we report no significant differences between region or race, contrary to the hypothesis. It would benefit future researchers to consider a long-term observation of participants to see how aromatase content changes throughout a lifespan and changes in body weight and distribution thereof. The addition of a lean group and a male group would add further depth the knowledge base on the subject as well. Further research into this area and its influence on body composition changes with age and racial discrepancies in disease and body composition could lead to evolved treatments of hormone-sensitive disease as well as individualized approaches based on age and race.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit B, Flegal KM. *Prevalence of Obesity in the United States*, 2009-2010. U.S. Department of Health & Human Services http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/adult.html.
- 2. Wake DJ, Strand M, Rask E, et al. Intra-adipose sex steroid metabolism and body fat distribution in idiopathic human obesity. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. 2007;66(3):440-446. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007.02755.x.
- 3. Van Pelt RE, Evans EM, Schechtman KB, Ehsani AA, Kohrt WM. Contributions of total and regional fat mass to risk for cardiovascular disease in older women. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2002;282(5):E1023-1028. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00467.2001.
- 4. Ley CJ, Lees B, Stevenson JC. Sex- and menopause-associated changes in body-fat distribution. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1992;55(5):950-954.
- 5. Espeland MA, Stefanick ML, Kritz-Silverstein D, et al. Effect of postmenopausal hormone therapy on body weight and waist and hip girths. Postmenopausal Estrogen-Progestin Interventions Study Investigators. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1997;82(5):1549-1556.
- 6. Fantuzzi G, Mazzone T. Adipose tissue and atherosclerosis: exploring the connection. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2007;27(5):996-1003. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.106.131755.
- Heine PA, Taylor JA, Iwamoto GA, Lubahn DB, Cooke PS. Increased adipose tissue in male and female estrogen receptor-alpha knockout mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. 2000;97(23):12729-12734. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.23.12729.
- 8. Ijichi N, Ikeda K, Horie-Inoue K, Yagi K, Okazaki Y, Inoue S. Estrogen-related receptor alpha modulates the expression of adipogenesis-related genes during adipocyte differentiation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2007;358(3):813-818. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.04.209.
- 9. Pallottini V, Bulzomi P, Galluzzo P, Martini C, Marino M. Estrogen regulation of adipose tissue functions: involvement of estrogen receptor isoforms. *Infect Disord Drug Targets*. 2008;8(1):52-60.
- 10. Jensen LB, Vestergaard P, Hermann AP, et al. Hormone replacement therapy dissociates fat mass and bone mass, and tends to reduce weight gain in early postmenopausal women: a randomized controlled 5-year clinical trial of the Danish Osteoporosis Prevention Study. *J Bone Miner Res.* 2003;18(2):333-342. doi:10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.2.333.
- 11. Margolis KL, Bonds DE, Rodabough RJ, et al. Effect of oestrogen plus progestin on the incidence of diabetes in postmenopausal women: results from the Women's Health Initiative Hormone Trial. *Diabetologia*. 2004;47(7):1175-1187. doi:10.1007/s00125-004-1448-x.

- 12. Bocchinfuso WP, Korach KS. Mammary gland development and tumorigenesis in estrogen receptor knockout mice. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia*. 1997;2(4):323-334.
- 13. Zechner R, Strauss J, Haemmerle G, Lass A, Ziimmerman R. Lipolysis: pathway under construction. 2005;16:333-340.
- 14. Björntorp P. Adipose tissue distribution and function. Int J Obes. 1991;15 Suppl 2:67-81.
- 15. Prins JB, O'Rahilly S, Chatterjee VK. Steroid hormones and adipose tissue. *Eur J Clin Invest*. 1996;26(4):259-261.
- 16. Jensen MD, Martin ML, Cryer PE, Roust LR. Effects of estrogen on free fatty acid metabolism in humans. *Am J Physiol*. 1994;266(6 Pt 1):E914-920.
- 17. Deroo BJ, Korach KS. Estrogen receptors and human disease. *J Clin Invest*. 2006;116(3):561-570. doi:10.1172/JCI27987.
- 18. Labrie F, Luu-The V, Lin SX, et al. The key role of 17 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenases in sex steroid biology. *Steroids*. 1997;62(1):148-158.
- 19. Hong Y, Li H, Yuan Y-C, Chen S. Sequence–function correlation of aromatase and its interaction with reductase. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*. 2010;118(4-5):203-206. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2009.11.010.
- 20. Simpson ER. Sources of estrogen and their importance. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol*. 2003;86(3-5):225-230.
- 21. Corbould AM, Judd SJ, Rodgers RJ. Expression of types 1, 2, and 3 17 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase in subcutaneous abdominal and intra-abdominal adipose tissue of women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1998;83(1):187-194.
- 22. Bulun SE, Simpson ER. Competitive reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction analysis indicates that levels of aromatase cytochrome P450 transcripts in adipose tissue of buttocks, thighs, and abdomen of women increase with advancing age. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1994;78(2):428-432.
- 23. Simpson E. Role of aromatase in sex steroid action. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*. 2000;25(2):149-156. doi:10.1677/jme.0.0250149.
- Bellemare V, Laberge P, Noël S, Tchernof A, Luu-The V. Differential estrogenic 17βhydroxysteroid dehydrogenase activity and type 12 17β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase expression levels in preadipocytes and differentiated adipocytes. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*. 2009;114(3-5):129-134. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2009.01.002.
- 25. *Overweight and Obesity*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/causes/health.html.

- Burke GL, Bild DE, Hilner JE, Folsom AR, Wagenknecht LE, Sidney S. Differences in weight gain in relation to race, gender, age and education in young adults: the CARDIA Study. Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults. *Ethn Health*. 1996;1(4):327-335. doi:10.1080/13557858.1996.9961802.
- 27. Lovejoy JC, de la Bretonne JA, Klemperer M, Tulley R. Abdominal fat distribution and metabolic risk factors: Effects of race. *Metabolism*. 1996;45(9):1119-1124. doi:10.1016/S0026-0495(96)90011-6.
- Albu JB, Murphy L, Frager DH, Johnson JA, Pi-Sunyer FX. Visceral fat and racedependent health risks in obese nondiabetic premenopausal women. *Diabetes*. 1997;46(3):456-462.
- 29. Conway JM, Yanovski SZ, Avila NA, Hubbard VS. Visceral adipose tissue differences in black and white women. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1995;61(4):765-771.
- 30. Lovejoy JC, Smith SR, Rood JC. Comparison of regional fat distribution and health risk factors in middle-aged white and African American women: The Healthy Transitions Study. *Obes Res.* 2001;9(1):10-16. doi:10.1038/oby.2001.2.
- 31. Hill JO, Sidney S, Lewis CE, Tolan K, Scherzinger AL, Stamm ER. Racial differences in amounts of visceral adipose tissue in young adults: the CARDIA (Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults) study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1999;69(3):381-387.
- 32. Dieudonne MN. Evidence for functional estrogen receptors and in human adipose cells: regional specificities and regulation by estrogens. *AJP: Cell Physiology*. 2004;286(3):655C-661. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00321.2003.
- 33. Goldberg IJ, Merkel M. Lipoprotein lipase: physiology, biochemistry, and molecular biology. *Front Biosci*. 2001;6:D388-405.
- 34. Reynisdottir S, Angelin B, Langin D, et al. Adipose Tissue Lipoprotein Lipase and Hormone-Sensitive Lipase. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*. 1997;17:2287-2292.
- 35. Martin ML, Jensen MD. Effects of body fat distribution on regional lipolysis in obesity. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 1991;88(2):609-613. doi:10.1172/JCI115345.
- 36. Hickner RC, Fisher JS, Kohrt WM. Regional differences in interstitial glycerol concentration in subcutaneous adipose tissue of women. *Am J Physiol*. 1997;273(5 Pt 1):E1033-1038.
- 37. Albu JB, Curi M, Shur M, Murphy L, Matthews DE, Pi-Sunyer FX. Systemic resistance to the antilipolytic effect of insulin in black and white women with visceral obesity. *Am J Physiol*. 1999;277(3 Pt 1):E551-560.

- Barakat H, Hickner RC, Privette J, et al. Differences in the lipolytic function of adipose tissue preparations from Black American and Caucasian women. *Metabolism*. 2002;51(11):1514-1518. doi:10.1053/meta.2002.35589.
- Muoio DM, MacLean PS, Lang DB, et al. Fatty Acid Homeostasis and Induction of Lipid Regulatory Genes in Skeletal Muscles of Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor (PPAR) Knock-out Mice: EVIDENCE FOR COMPENSATORY REGULATION BY PPAR. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2002;277(29):26089-26097. doi:10.1074/jbc.M203997200.
- 40. Yamasaki H, Douchi T, Yamamoto S, Oki T, Kuwahata R, Nagata Y. Body fat distribution and body composition during GnRH agonist therapy. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2001;97(3):338-342.
- 41. Douchi T, Kuwahata R, Yamasaki H, et al. Inverse relationship between the changes in trunk lean and fat mass during gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist therapy. *Maturitas*. 2002;42(1):31-35.
- 42. Yüksel H, Odabasi AR, Demircan S, Köseoğlu K, Kizilkaya K, Onur E. Effects of postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy on body fat composition. *Gynecol Endocrinol*. 2007;23(2):99-104. doi:10.1080/09513590601152177.
- 43. Gambacciani M, Ciaponi M, Cappagli B, et al. Body weight, body fat distribution, and hormonal replacement therapy in early postmenopausal women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. 1997;82(2):414-417.
- 44. Davis SR, Walker KZ, Strauss BJ. Effects of estradiol with and without testosterone on body composition and relationships with lipids in postmenopausal women. *Menopause*. 2000;7(6):395-401.
- 45. Boon WC, Chow JDY, Simpson ER. The multiple roles of estrogens and the enzyme aromatase. *Prog Brain Res.* 2010;181:209-232. doi:10.1016/S0079-6123(08)81012-6.
- 46. Mattsson C, Olsson T. Estrogens and glucocorticoid hormones in adipose tissue metabolism. *Curr Med Chem.* 2007;14(27):2918-2924.
- Misso ML, Jang C, Adams J, et al. Adipose aromatase gene expression is greater in older women and is unaffected by postmenopausal estrogen therapy. *Menopause*. 2005;12(2):210-215.
- 48. Mayes JS, Watson GH. Direct effects of sex steroid hormones on adipose tissues and obesity. *Obes Rev.* 2004;5(4):197-216. doi:10.1111/j.1467-789X.2004.00152.x.
- 49. Grodin JM, Siiteri PK, Macdonald PC. Source of Estrogen Production in Postmenopausal Women. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*. 1973;36(2):207-214. doi:10.1210/jcem-36-2-207.
- 50. Cleland WH, Mendelson CR, Simpson ER. Effects of aging and obesity on aromatase activity of human adipose cells. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1985;60(1):174-177.

- 51. Sherman BM, Korenman SG. Hormonal characteristics of the human menstrual cycle throughout reproductive life. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 1975;55(4):699-706. doi:10.1172/JCI107979.
- 52. Lohman TG, Roche AF, Martorell R. *Anthropometric Standardization Reference Manual*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics; 1998.
- 53. Bulun SE, Simpson ER, Word R. Expression of the CYP19 gene and its product aromatase cytochrom P450 in human uterine leiomyoma tissue and cells in culture. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1994;78:736-743.
- 54. Noble L, Simpson ER, Johns A, Bulun SE. Aromatase expression in endometriosis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1996;81:174-179.
- 55. Kendrick N. A gene's mRNA level does not usually predict its protein level. *www.kendricklabs.com*. September 2014.
- 56. Greenbaum D, Colangelo C, Williams K, Gerstein M. Comparing protein abundance and mRNA expression levels on a genomic scale. *Genome Biol.* 2003;4(9):117. doi:10.1186/gb-2003-4-9-117.
- 57. Hatzimanikatis V, Choe LH, Lee KH. Proteomics: Theoretical and Experimental Considerations. *Biotechnology Progress*. 1999;15(3):312-318. doi:10.1021/bp990004b.
- 58. Tseng L. EFFECT OF ESTRADIOL AND PROGESTERONE ON HUMAN ENDOMETRIAL AROMATASE ACTIVITY IN PRIMARY CELL CULTURE. *Endocrinology*. 1984;115(2):833-835. doi:10.1210/endo-115-2-833.

#### Appendix A



EAST CAROLINA UNIVERSITY University & Medical Center Institutional Review Board Office 1L-09 Brody Medical Sciences Building. Mail Stop 682 600 Moye Boulevard · Greenville, NC 27834 Office 252-744-2914 · Fax 252-744-2284 · <u>www.ecu.edu/irb</u>

### Notification of Continuing Review Approval

- From: Biomedical IRB
- To: <u>Kathleen Gavin</u>
- CC: <u>Robert Hickner</u>
- Date: 4/16/2012
- Re: CR00000284
  - <u>UMCIRB 10-0245</u>

[IMPORTED] Pilot study investigating regional differences in aromatase and lipolytic activity in women.

I am pleased to inform you that at the convened meeting of the Biomedical IRB on 4/11/2012, this research study underwent a continuing review and the committee voted to approve the study. Approval of the study and the consent form(s) is for the period of 4/11/2012 to 4/10/2013.

The Biomedical IRB deemed this study Greater than Minimal Risk.

Changes to this approved research may not be initiated without UMCIRB review except when necessary to eliminate an apparent immediate hazard to the participant. All unanticipated problems involving risks to participants and others must be promptly reported to the UMCIRB. The investigator must submit a continuing review/closure application to the UMCIRB prior to the date of study expiration. The investigator must adhere to all reporting requirements for this study.

The approval includes the following items:

Name	Description	Modified	Version
Gavin Flyer with Tabs Revisions 071510.doc	Recruitment Documents/Scripts	8/11/2011 10:15 AM	0.01
gavin Medical Form 071510.doc	Surveys and Questionnaires	8/11/2011 10:16 AM	0.01
GavinPilot_InformedConsent_Revisions_4.12.12_Clean.doc.pdf	Consent Forms	4/12/2012 12:28 PM	0.02

The following UMCIRB members were recused for reasons of potential for Conflict of Interest on this research study:

None

The following UMCIRB members with a potential Conflict of Interest did not attend this IRB meeting: R. Hickner IRB0000705 East Carolina U IRB #1 (Biomedical) IORG0000418 IRB00003781 East Carolina U IRB #2 (Behavioral/SS) IORG0000418 IRB00004973 East Carolina U IRB #4 (Behavioral/SS Summer) IORG0000418